UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

In the Matter of an Application to
Enforce the Administrative Subpoena of the

U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING :
COMMISSION, : Misc. Case No. 16-9010

Petitioner,
V.
CHARLES MCALLISTER,

Respondent.

SUGGESTIONS IN SUPPORT OF APPLICATION FOR AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE
AND ORDER REQUIRING COMPLIANCE WITH ADMINISTRATIVE SUBPOENA

INTRODUCTION

BullionDirect, Inc. (BDI) was a web-based precious metals company that, for 16 years,
sold precious metals directly to retail customers through an online catalog and through an
exchange that allowed customers to buy and sell precious metals with BDI acting as the
intermediary. BDI offered vaulting and storage services for these precious metals purchased by
customers. Charles McAllister (McAllister) was the Chief Executive Officer of BDI from its
inception in 1999 until just before it filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy on July 20, 2015. That
same day, McAllister ceded control of the company to a restructuring agent. According to

bankruptcy pleadings, BDI’s demise, culminating in its bankruptcy, caused customer losses of at
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least $24 million. As part of an investigation to determine whether these activities resulted in
violations of the Commaodity Exchange Act (Act) or Commodity Futures Trading Commission
(Commission) Regulations, the Commission subpoenaed McAllister for documents related to
BDI and an affiliated entity Nucleo Development Company, LLC (including Nucleo Exchange
and other affiliated entities) (collectively Nucleo), which operated BDI’s online catalog and
exchange. McAllister has refused to produce any documents in response to the Commission’s
subpoena duces tecum dated January 21, 2016 (Subpoena).

The Commission therefore filed with this Court its Application for an Order to Show
Cause and Order Requiring Compliance with Administrative Subpoena (Application),
incorporated herein by reference, to compel compliance with the Subpoena duly issued and
served upon McAllister in connection with the Commission’s investigation entitled “Certain
Persons Engaged in Unlawful Retail Commaodity Transactions” (Investigation). The
Commission submits these Suggestions in Support of its Application because McAllister has
failed to produce documents as required by the Subpoena, and the Commission requests that the
Court order McAllister to comply with the its Subpoena for the reasons set forth below.

1.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

This Court has jurisdiction over an action to enforce a Commission subpoena under
Section 6(c)(8) of the Act, which states in pertinent part:

In case of contumacy by, or refusal to obey a subpoena issued to, any person, the
Commission may invoke the aid of any court of the United States within the
jurisdiction in which the investigation or proceeding is conducted, or where such
person resides or transacts business, in requiring the attendance and testimony of
witnesses and the production of books, papers, correspondence, memoranda, and
other records.
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7 U.S.C. 8§ 9(8) (2012). Venue is proper in the Western District of Missouri because the
Commission is conducting its investigation from its Kansas City, Missouri office; the attorneys
working on the investigation are assigned to the Commission’s Kansas City, Missouri office; the
documents relating to the investigation are being reviewed from the Commission’s Kansas City,
Missouri office; and the Subpoena issued to McAllister on January 21, 2016 was issued from and
was returnable to the Commission’s Kansas City, Missouri office. (Declaration of J. Alison
Auxter (Auxter Decl.) 1 4 (attached as Exhibit A)). Furthermore, the Subpoena required
McAllister to appear, produce documents and to testify at the Commission’s office in Kansas
City, Missouri. 1d.

1.

RESPONDENT

Charles McAllister is an individual whose residence is, upon information and belief,
located at an address in The Woodlands, Texas, 77382. Until July 20, 2015, McAllister was the
president of BDI. (Auxter Decl. {1 5-6.)

V.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Conduct Under Investigation

The Commission is an independent federal regulatory agency created by Congress on
October 23, 1974 to administer and enforce the Act, 7 U.S.C. 88 1 et seq., and the Commission’s
Regulations, 17 C.F.R. § 1.1 et seq. (2015) (Regulations). Under this authority, on May 5, 2015,
the Commission issued a formal order of investigation entitled “Certain Persons Engaged in
Unlawful Retail Commaodity Transactions.” (Auxter Decl.  2.) This formal order of

investigation was amended on July 24, 2015 to designate additional members of the Division of
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Enforcement (Division) authorized to act under the order, and again on July 31, 2015 to include
the company BDI and McAllister as an individual. (ld. 11 2-3.)

The purpose of the May 5, 2015 order, as amended (Order), is to allow the Commission
to determine whether any person has engaged, is engaging or is about to engage in acts or
practices in connection with unlawful retail commodity transactions, services or systems in
violation of Section 6(c)(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 9(1) and/or Regulation 180.1, 17 C.F.R. §
180.1, or any other provisions of the Act or Regulations. In this regard, the Order authorizes
designated members of the Division to take testimony under oath or affirmation, subpoena
witnesses, compel their attendance, and require the production of any records or other tangible
things the Commission deems relevant or material to the investigation of these violations of the
Act and/or Regulations.

During the course of this investigation, the Division uncovered evidence that BDI and
McAllister may have violated Section 6(c)(1) of the Act, and Regulation 180.1, by using a
manipulative or deceptive device in connection with contracts for sales of commodities—
specifically, precious metals.

B. The Subpoena

As part of its ongoing investigation, on December 17, 2015, the Division issued a
subpoena to McAllister at an address in Austin, Texas 78749, for production of documents on
January 4, 2016, or testimony and production on January 7, 2016. (Auxter Decl. 11 9-11.) The
Division did not receive a response to this December 17 subpoena, nor did McAllister appear.
(Id. §12.) OnJanuary 12, 2016, the Division contacted Mr. Randy Leavitt, Esq., whom the
Division understood to represent McAllister. (Id. 1 13.) After a phone call with Mr. Leavitt on

January 20, 2016, the Division issued another subpoena to McAllister on January 21, 2016
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through his counsel, requiring McAllister to produce documents related to BDI and related
entities Nucleo Development Company, LLC, Nucleo Exchange, and any related Nucleo entities
(Nucleo entities collectively referred to as Nucleo). (1d. §14.)! The Subpoena called for
McAllister to appear, produce documents, and testify at the Commission’s offices in Kansas
City, Missouri on February 11, 2016. (Id.) In lieu of appearance on February 11, 2016,
McAllister was given the option to produce the requested documents to the Division by
February 4, 2016. (1d.)

The Division served the Subpoena via email on Mr. Leavitt, counsel for McAllister, of
The Law Office of Randy T. Leavitt, 1301 Rio Grande Street, Austin, TX 78701, consistent
with the requirements of the Act. (Id. 1 15.)

C. Respondent’s Failure to Comply with the Subpoena

McAullister has failed to produce any documents requested by the Subpoena, which
Division counsel discussed with counsel for McAllister on numerous occasions as follows:
February 4, 2016:

e Mr. Leavitt advised that McAllister would be asserting a Fifth Amendment
privilege as to the act of producing the requested documents. Mr. Leavitt
memorialized this position in an email of the same date in which he objected to
the Subpoena as being overly broad and burdensome and indicated that he
interpreted the Subpoena as an “individual subpoena” and that McAllister was
asserting his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination. (Id. { 16.)

e McAllister did not produce documents or appear in the Commission’s Kansas
City office based on his privilege assertion. (Id. §17.)

February 19, 2016:

e Division arranged for a call with Mr. Leavitt to explain that the response to the
Subpoena was insufficient. (Auxter Decl. § 18.)

! For purposes of this Subpoena Enforcement Action, and for clarity, “Subpoena” will refer to the January 21, 2016
Subpoena for the remainder of these Suggestions in Support.
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e Mr. Leavitt advised that McAllister did not want to duplicate efforts, and likely
did not have any documents (if he was in fact in possession of documents) that
BDI would not also have. (Id. §19.)

e Division counsel noted that based on the fact that McAllister ceded control of
BDI to a restructuring agent when BDI declared bankruptcy, neither the
restructuring agent nor the Division could be reasonably certain that documents
remaining with BDI were inclusive of the documents in McAllister’s possession.
(Id. 1 20.)

e Division counsel explained to Mr. Leavitt that the Division was open to
discussing the documents in Mr. McAllister’s possession and a potential
resolution for production. (1d.)

e Mr. Leavitt noted that McAllister was creating an inventory of documents in his
possession, and then requested that the Division provide him with an inventory of
all documents received from BDI in the Division’s investigation. (Auxter Decl. {
21.)

e Division counsel advised that the production of such an inventory was not
possible because the Division’s investigations are confidential. (ld.)

e Mr. Leavitt requested that if McAllister produced responsive documents, the
Division offer McAllister immunity for the act of production under the Fifth
Amendment. (Id. 1 22.)

e Division counsel advised Mr. Leavitt of their belief that such a privilege did not
exist with respect to corporate documents and that a blanket assertion of the Fifth
Amendment was improper. (I1d. {23.)

March 8, 2016:

¢ Division counsel contacted Leavitt to determine whether McAllister would be
producing non-privileged documents pursuant to the subpoena. (Auxter Decl. |
24.)

e Mr. Leavitt confirmed that McAllister created an inventory of the documents in
his possession, but reasserted his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-
incrimination based on the act of production. (Id. { 25.)

e Mr. Leavitt, again, asked that the Division prepare an inventory of the documents
received from BDI, which Mr. Leavitt would then compare against the inventory
created by McAllister. (Id. 1 26.)

6
Case 4:16-mc-09010-NKL Document 2 Filed 05/23/16 Page 6 of 18



Division counsel reiterated that due to the nature of the Division’s confidential
investigations, it could not provide Mr. Leavitt with an inventory of documents
received in the Commission’s investigation. (1d.)

Mr. Leavitt refused to produce McAllister’s inventory document because the
privilege McAllister was asserting was to the act of production, not to individual
documents themselves. (Id. §27.)

Division counsel restated their position that there is no Fifth Amendment
privilege as to corporate documents and that a blanket invocation of the Fifth
Amendment as to other documents was improper. Division counsel explained
that McAllister would have to state with specificity how the privilege applied to
specific documents. (Id. § 28.)

Division counsel requested that McAllister produce any non-privileged
documents. (Id.)

Mr. Leavitt advised that he would not review thousands of documents to produce
to the CFTC “unless a federal judge tells [him] he has to,” because McAllister has
limited resources and “he has bigger fish to fry”; specifically, FBI involvement
and criminal implications. (Auxter Decl. 1 29.)

Division counsel advised that if McAllister refused to produce responsive
documents based on a blanket objection, the Division would consider a subpoena
enforcement action in order to obtain the requested documents. (Auxter Decl. |
30.)

Division counsel requested that Mr. Leavitt or Mr. Botsford (co-counsel for
McAllister) let them know within one week whether or not McAllister would
produce responsive documents or would continue to assert a blanket invocation of
the Fifth Amendment. (1d.)

March 29, 2016:

Mr. Leavitt responded by email that McAllister was continuing to assert a “Fifth
Amendment claim to the act of producing such document[s].” (Id. § 31 (emphasis
in original).)

April 8, 2016:

Division counsel stated by letter, including case citations, its position that
McAllister has no Fifth Amendment privilege as to corporate documents of BDI
and that a blanket assertion of the Fifth Amendment is an insufficient response to
the Subpoena. (Auxter Decl. § 32.)

7
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e The Division asked McAllister to provide an adequate response by April 22, 2016
to the Subpoena issued more than two months prior. (ld.)

e Otherwise, Division counsel advised the Commission would seek a federal court
order enforcing the Subpoena and awarding attorney’s fees to the Commission for
seeking such relief. (1d.)

April 28, 2016:
e Mr. Leavitt responded to the Division’s April 8 letter, and again stated that

McAllister has a “viable 5th Amendment privilege to the *act of production
response to the Subpoena.? (Auxter Decl. ] 33.)

in

e Although Mr. Leavitt stated that he and McAllister “stand willing and ready to
cooperate with your agency,” McAllister still has not produced any responsive
documents. (Id. 1 33-34.)

The Commission has been patiently trying to obtain responsive documents from
McAllister for almost five months and has no reason to believe that McAllister’s document
production will proceed absent this Court’s order to do so; therefore, the Commission institutes
this proceeding to compel compliance with the Subpoena.

V.
ARGUMENT

The Commission has broad authority to issue subpoenas relevant to its investigations.
The Commission’s authority to conduct investigations and issue subpoenas is a broad “power of
inquisition” approximating that of a grand jury, and that authority may be exercised “merely on
suspicion that the law is being violated, or even just because [the Commission] wants assurance
that it is not.” United States v. Morton Salt Co., 338 U.S. 632, 642-43 (1950); CFTC v. Tokheim,

153 F.3d 474, 477-78 (7th Cir. 1998) (holding that an agency may investigate to determine

whether conduct falls within its jurisdiction); Donovan v. Shaw, 668 F.2d 985, 989 (8th Cir.

2 Mr. Leavitt’s April 28 response as to McAllister’s “act of production” privilege relied solely on a single general
reference to United States v. Hubbell, 530 U.S. 27 (2000), but did not state what part of Hubbell purportedly
supports McAllister’s blanket assertion of the privilege. Regardless, Hubbell is easily distinguishable from the
issues in the present matter.
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1982) (*Just as an administrative agency is not required to establish coverage under a particular
federal law when it seeks judicial enforcement of its subpoena, the issuing agency generally need
not make any factual showing that a law has been violated as a condition precedent to
enforcement.”). As discussed further below (see Part \VV.C., infra), here, the Division is
investigating actions and omissions by BDI and McAllister that caused thousands of BDI
customers to lose over $20 million, collectively, in the purchase of metals, an area clearly within
the Commission’s jurisdiction. The Subpoena requesting documents related to BDI and Nucleo
is relevant to the Commission’s Investigation.

The Subpoena must be enforced because the Division has complied with all relevant
requirements. “An administrative subpoena must be enforced if the information sought “is
within the authority of the agency, the demand is not too indefinite and the information sought is
reasonably relevant.”” CFTC v. Ekasala, 62 F. Supp. 3d 88, 93 (D.D.C. 2014) (quoting Morton
Salt, 338 U.S. at 652); RTC v. Walde, 18 F.3d 943, 946 (D.C. Cir. 1994); see also In re Sealed
Case (Administrative Subpoena), 42 F.3d 1412, 1415-16 (D.C. Cir. 1994); Donovan v. Union
Packing Co., 714 F.2d 838, 840 (8th Cir. 1983); United States v. Capitol Supply, Inc., 27 F.
Supp. 3d 91, 99 (D.D.C. 2014). Because the Subpoena fully complies with these criteria, as
discussed further below, it must be enforced.

A. The Investigation Is Authorized by the Act

Pursuant to the Order, the Division is investigating whether McAllister, BDI, or other
entities or individuals associated with them, engaged in acts or practices in violation of Section
6(c) of the Act and Regulation 180.1, or any other acts or practices in violation of any other

provisions of the Act or Regulations.
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An essential component of that power of investigation is the Commission’s subpoena
power. 7 U.S.C. § 12(a)(1) (“For the efficient execution of the provisions of this [Commodity
Exchange Act] . . . the Commission may make such investigations as it deems necessary to
ascertain the facts regarding the operations of . . . persons subject to the provisions of this Act”);
7 U.S.C. 8 9(5) (“any . . . officer designated by the Commission . .. may . . . subpoena witnesses,
compel their attendance, take evidence, and require the production of any . . . records that the
Commission deems relevant or material to the inquiry.”); see also CFTC v. Harker, 615 F. Supp.
420, 424 (D.D.C. 1985) (The Act grants the Commission the authority to subpoena witnesses and
to seek judicial enforcement of such subpoenas.).

The Commission “must be given substantial leeway” to investigate the affairs of those
subject to an investigation so that the Commission may ascertain whether they have “complied
with or run afoul of” the Act or Regulations. Collinsv. CFTC, 737 F. Supp. 1467, 1485 (N.D.
I11. 1990). The refusal of McAllister to comply with the Subpoena materially impedes the
Division’s ability to make that determination.

B. The Commission’s Demand for Testimony and Documents Is Definite

There was nothing indefinite or ambiguous about the Subpoena. The Subpoena called for
McAllister to appear at a designated time, at a specific location, to provide testimony and to
produce documents that were clearly described. (Auxter Decl. 19.) The Subpoena required
McAllister to produce copies of all documents and communications in his possession, custody or
control related to BDI or Nucleo. (l1d.)

C. The Information Sought is Relevant to the Investigation

The information sought from McAllister is relevant to the Division’s investigation of the

possible use of a manipulative or deceptive device in connection with contracts for the sale of
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commodities in violation of the Act and Regulations by BDI and/or McAllister or any other
entities or individuals associated with them. While McAllister objected that the Subpoena was
overly broad and unduly burdensome, the documents requested in the Subpoena are both relevant
to this investigation (and therefore not overly broad) and will not unduly burden McAllister or
BDI.

The standard for determining the relevancy of an administrative subpoena ““in an
investigatory proceeding is more relaxed than in an adjudicatory one. . .. The requested
material, therefore, need only be relevant to the investigation—the boundary of which may be
defined quite generally.”” RTC v. Walde, 18 F.3d at 947 (quoting FTC v. Invention Submission
Corp., 965 F.2d 1086, 1090 (D.C. Cir. 1992) (emphasis in original) (internal citations omitted)).
A federal “agency’s own appraisal of relevancy must be accepted so long as it is not obviously
wrong.” Invention Submission Corp., 965 F.2d at 1089 (internal quotations omitted); accord
RTC v. Burke, 869 F. Supp. 15, 17 (D.D.C. 1994). See United States v. Zadeh, No. 4:14-cv-105-
O, 2015 WL 418090, *5 (N.D. Tex. Jan. 31, 2015), aff’d, --- F.3d ---, No. 15-10195, 2016 WL
1612754 (5th Cir. Apr. 21, 2016) (holding that “so long as the material requested touches a
matter under investigation, the subpoena will survive a challenge that it is not relevant™). The
documents requested in the Subpoena are directly relevant to this investigation and the requests
are therefore not overly broad.

The Subpoena is similarly not unduly burdensome. “A subpoena is not unreasonably
burdensome unless compliance threatens to unduly disrupt or seriously hinder normal operations
of a business.” Id. at *5 (quoting FTC v. Jim Walter Corp., 651 F.2d 251, 258 (5th Cir. 1981)).
Given that McAllister ceded control of BDI just before it declared bankruptcy, his production of

the requested documents will not disrupt or hinder the business of BDI.
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The documents and testimony from McAllister are crucial to this investigation.
Historically, BDI bought and sold precious metals, as did its customers, through the BDI internet
platform Nucleo Exchange. (Declaration of Dan Bensimon in Support of Debtor’s Petition and
First Day Motions (Bensimon Declaration) (Dkt. # 16), In re BullionDirect, Inc., No. 15-10940,
at 11 1-2 (W.D. Tex. July 28, 2015) (attached as Exhibit B)). On July 20, 2015, BDI filed for
bankruptcy, leaving thousands of metals purchasers without cash or metals in an amount totaling
$24,051,401.05. (Voluntary Petition (Dkt. # 1), In re BullionDirect, Inc., No. 15-10940 (W.D.
Tex. July 20, 2015) (attached as Exhibit C); Bensimon Declaration, supra, at 11 6-7; Amended
Summary of Schedules (Dkt. # 101), In re BullionDirect, Inc., No. 15-10940 (W.D. Tex. Sept.
18, 2015 (attached as Exhibit D).) These purchasers of metals, now unsecured creditors of the
bankruptcy estate, purchased these metals with the belief that BDI would ship metals to the
customers, or hold the metals for the customers, when in fact BDI may not have had the metals
or sufficient cash to purchase these metals. (Bensimon Declaration, supra, at {1 3-5.) The
Division is therefore seeking information concerning the business operations of BDI, including
but not limited to, customer information, metals purchases, hedging operations, customer
representations and communications, promotional materials, and its website Nucleo Exchange,
which facilitated BDI’s online sale of precious metals.

McAllister was the president of BDI until July 20, 2015, when he transferred control of
BDI to a restructuring consultant to facilitate BDI’s bankruptcy filing, on the day of the filing.
(Bensimon Declaration, supra.) Because of McAllister’s hasty and relatively recent exit from
BDI, it is not reasonable for Division counsel to solely rely on a restructuring consultant who has
only been in command of the company since its bankruptcy filing in July (and who was not

previously involved in the company) to confirm whether he is in possession of all corporate
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records relating to BDI. Accordingly, seeking these documents from McAllister is more than
“reasonably relevant,” and is in fact essential to, the Commission’s investigation. Linde
Thompson Langworthy Kohn & Van Dyke, P.C. v. RTC, 5 F.3d 1508, 1516-17 (D.C. Cir. 1993)
(affirming enforcement of a subpoena duces tecum).®> General “overly broad” and “unduly
burdensome” objections by McAllister therefore fail.

D. McAllister’s Blanket Fifth Amendment Invocation Is Inadequate

In response to the Subpoena, counsel for McAllister generally stated that McAllister
“asserts his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination as to the act of production” of any
documents responsive to the Subpoena. (Auxter Decl.  16.) This response is inadequate.

First, McAllister has no Fifth Amendment privilege as to corporate documents of BDI or
Nucleo. See Braswell v. United States, 487 U.S. 99, 108-09 (1988); see also United States v.
Custodian of Records, Southwestern Fertility Ctr., 743 F. Supp. 783, 789 (W.D. Okla. 1990)
(holding that business records have no Fifth Amendment protection and rejecting the argument
that the act of production of business records is testimonial in nature and protected by Fifth
Amendment); Gloves, Inc. v. Berger, 198 F.R.D. 6, 10 (D. Mass. 2000) (holding that former
employee in possession of corporate records continues to hold the records in a representative
capacity even after termination of employment and enjoys no Fifth Amendment privilege as to
corporate records). The Subpoena requests documents related to BDI and Nucleo, which
presumably are primarily, if not exclusively, corporate records.”

Second, even if McAllister is in possession of documents that are not corporate in nature,

there is no Fifth Amendment protection for other responsive documents unless they are

¥ Moreover, McAllister has the burden of showing that the information sought by the administrative subpoena is not
relevant. See In Re Sealed Case (Administrative Subpoena), 42 F.3d at 1419; Walde, 18 F.3d at 948 (quoting
Invention Submission Corp., 965 F.2d at 1090). McAllister has not, and cannot, meet that burden.

* McAllister has not indicated otherwise. In fact, McAllister has neither admitted nor denied possession of any
documents responsive to the Subpoena. (Auxter Decl. 1 16.)
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testimonial in nature, even if those documents are incriminating. “[T]he Fifth Amendment does
not apply to all incriminating evidence, rather only compelled evidence from the accused which
IS testimonial in nature and incriminating.” Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC v. McNaughton, No.
2:05-cv-254, 2007 WL 2433996, *1 (W.D. Mich. Aug. 22, 2007); see also Fisher v. United
States, 425 U.S. 391, 408 (1976). McAllister made no specific assertion that any documents
responsive to the subpoena are either incriminating or testimonial. But if responsive documents
do exist that are both incriminating and testimonial in nature, and McAllister wishes to assert a
Fifth Amendment privilege as to those documents, McAllister must provide specificity as to why
particular responsive documents are protected by the privilege. See, e.g., SEC v. A Chicago
Convention Center, LLC, No. 13 C 982, 2013 WL 4010585, *7 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 5, 2013) (stating
that defendant “must produce a privilege log for those documents which he claims are covered
by his Fifth Amendment privilege”). Division counsel made McAllister’s counsel aware of this
need to state with particularity McAllister’s objections, but counsel continues to invoke a blanket
Fifth Amendment privilege. It is impossible for Division counsel to evaluate the applicability of
McAllister’s invoked Fifth Amendment privilege with this broad assertion as to all responsive
documents.

McAllister has not met his burden to properly invoke and assert his Fifth Amendment
privilege. It is McAllister’s burden to establish the benefit of a Fifth Amendment privilege; that
is, McAllister must elect to raise, or not raise, the defense with respect to each and every
document responsive to the Subpoena. See SEC v. Caramadre, 717 F. Supp. 2d 217, 224 (D.R.1.
2010) (holding that a ““blanket’ invocation of the Fifth Amendment does not get Respondents off
the hook™). Here, despite repeated requests from Division counsel for specificity as to

McAllister’s Fifth Amendment invocation, Mr. Leavitt has repeatedly stated, generally, that
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McAullister objects to the act of producing the documents requested in the Subpoena as a whole.
Because McAllister has failed to—and ultimately cannot—meet his burden on the Fifth
Amendment privilege, the Division is entitled to documents in McAllister’s possession, custody
or control, if any, responsive to the Subpoena.

E. Service Upon McAllister Was Proper

According to Section 11.4(c)(1) of the Regulations, 17 C.F.R. § 11.4(c)(1), service of a
Commission subpoena on a natural person or a business entity may be effected by various
methods, including “any . . . method whereby actual notice is given to him” or to a representative
of the entity. The Subpoena was delivered to counsel for McAllister via email after counsel
agreed to accept service of the same. (Auxter Decl. § 14.) It is without question that McAllister
received the Subpoena.

It is similarly without question that McAllister has failed to comply with the Subpoena.
McAllister maintains he may refuse even the act of production on the basis of a Fifth
Amendment claim of privilege. Based on this blanket Fifth Amendment invocation (with no
specificity as to any particular supposedly privileged documents), McAllister has failed to
produce any documents sought in the Subpoena. (Auxter Decl. 11 33-34.)

VI.

ATTORNEY’S FEES

For nearly five months, the Division has attempted, on multiple occasions, to have a
substantive conversation with McAllister about specific facts related to his blanket invocation of
the Fifth Amendment act of production privilege. Despite these repeated requests by Division
counsel, McAllister continues to assert the blanket privilege, while simultaneously failing in any

respect to provide specific facts supporting his assertion. The Commission therefore seeks
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attorney’s fees and costs for the Division’s time spent in preparing and litigating this subpoena
enforcement action. The Act is silent on the award of attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in
pursuing a subpoena enforcement proceeding. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 81, however,
provides authority for the imposition of costs and fees incurred in this matter. FRCP 81(a)(5)
provides:
[The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure] apply to proceedings to compel testimony
or the production of documents through a subpoena issued by a United States
officer or agency under a federal statute, except as otherwise provided by statute,
by local rule, or by court order in the proceedings.
Because the Commission has issued a subpoena under a federal statute, Section 6(c)(5) of the
Act, the Commission is entitled to seek attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to FRCP 37(a)(5)(A).
See e.g., Lineback v. Cherry Creek Elec., Inc., No. 1:15-mc-01001-JES-JEH, 2015 WL 4692347,
*2 (C.D. lll. Aug. 6, 2015) (determining an award of attorney’s fees pursuant to FRCP 37(a)(5)
was appropriate in subpoena enforcement action enforcing NLRB subpoena). FRCP 37(a)(5)(A)
provides:
If the motion is granted—or if the disclosure or requested discovery is provided
after the motion was filed—the court must, after giving an opportunity to be
heard, require the party or deponent whose conduct necessitated the motion, the
party or attorney advising that conduct, or both to pay the movant’s reasonable
expenses incurred in making the motion, including attorney’s fees. But the court
must not order this payment if:
Q) the movant filed the motion before attempting in good faith
to obtain the disclosure or discovery without court action;
(i) the opposing party’s nondisclosure, response, or objection
was substantially justified; or
(iii)  other circumstances make an award of expenses unjust.
Here, the Commission attempted in good faith to obtain the subpoenaed documents from

the Respondent before filing this Application, Respondent’s assertion of the Fifth Amendment

privilege in response to the Subpoena has been improper and unsubstantiated, and there are no
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circumstances that would make an award of attorney’s fees and costs unjust. Thus, if the
Commission prevails in this action, it is entitled to its attorney’s fees and costs in preparing and
litigating this subpoena enforcement action.

VII.

CONCLUSION

The Subpoena and the documents it seeks are well within the Commission’s authority,
are sufficiently definite, and seek reasonably relevant information. The Court should therefore
issue an order to show cause requiring McAllister to appear and to demonstrate why an order
should not be entered compelling him to fully comply with the administrative Subpoena dated
January 21, 2016, issued to him by the Commission. Should no good cause be shown, this Court
should order McAllister to comply in all respects with the Commission’s Subpoena and award

costs and attorney’s fees to the Commission.

Date: May 23, 2016 Respectfully submitted:

By: _ /s/ Jo Mettenburg
Charles D. Marvine (Mo. Bar # 44906)
Jo Mettenburg (W.D. Mo. Bar # V2057)
J. Alison Auxter (Mo. Bar # 59079 )
Attorneys for Petitioner
U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission
4900 Main Street, Ste. 500
Kansas City, MO 64112
(816) 960-7700 (telephone)
(816) 960-7751 (facsimile)
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on May 23, 2016, | electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk
of the Court using the CM/ECF system, which did not send notification of such filing to any of
the respondents. | hereby certify that | have mailed by United States Postal Service the
document to the following non CM/ECF participants:

Randy Leavitt

The Law Office of Randy T. Leavitt
1301 Rio Grande Street

Austin, TX 78701

David Botsford
1307 West Avenue
Austin, TX 78701

[s/ Jo Mettenburg

Attorney for Petitioner

U.S. Commodity Futures Trading
Commission

Case 4:16-mc-09010-NKL Document 2 Filed 05/23/16 Page 18 of 18



Exhibit A

To Suggestions in Support of Application
for an Order to Show Cause and Order
Requiring Compliance with
Administrative Subpoena
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

In the Matter of an Application to
Enforce the Administrative Subpoena of the

U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING :
COMMISSION, : Misc. Case No. 16-9010

Petitioner,
V.
CHARLES MCALLISTER,

Respondent.

DECLARATION OF J. ALISON AUXTER IN SUPPORT OF APPLICATION FOR
AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE AND ORDER REQUIRING COMPLIANCE
WITH ADMINISTRATIVE SUBPOENA PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. 81746

I, J. ALISON AUXTER, do hereby declare as follows:

1. I am over 21 years of age and have personal knowledge of the facts and
circumstances described herein. | am an attorney with the Division of Enforcement (Division) of
the U.S. Commaodity Futures Trading Commission (Commission), 4900 Main Street, Suite 500,
Kansas City, Missouri 64112.

2. On May 5, 2015, the Commission issued a formal order of investigation entitled
“Certain Persons Engaged In Unlawful Retail Commodity Transactions” (as amended July 24,
2015 to designate additional members of the Division) pursuant to Sections 6(c) and 8(a)(1) of
the Commodity Exchange Act (Act), 7 U.S.C. 88 9 and 12(a)(1) (2012), designating Division
staff members to administer oaths and affirmations, subpoena witnesses and compel their

attendance, take evidence, and require the production of any books, papers, correspondence,
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memoranda, records and other tangible things relevant or material to an investigation being
conducted pursuant to Sections 6(c) and 8(a)(1) of the Act. On July 31, 2015, the Order was
amended to include the company BullionDirect Inc. (BDI) and Charles McAllister (McAllister),
an individual (Investigation).

3. The Order, issued pursuant to Section 11.2(b) of the CFTC Regulations, 17 C.F.R.
811.2(b) (2015) (Regulations), authorized Jo Mettenburg and me, among others, to issue
subpoenas and take testimony for the purpose of determining whether BDI, McAllister or other
entities or persons, have engaged in or are engaging in acts or practices in violation of the Act or
Regulations.

4, The Commission’s Investigation regarding BDI is being conducted from the
Commission’s office in Kansas City, Missouri. The attorneys working on the Investigation are
assigned to the Kansas City, Missouri office, the subpoena that is the subject of this action was
issued from, and is returnable to, the Commission’s Kansas City, Missouri office, and the
subpoena required McAllister to appear, produce documents and testify at the Commission’s
Kansas City, Missouri office.

5. BDI is a company formerly located at 700 Lavaca St # 1400 Austin, TX 78701.
Attached as Exhibit 1 is the Company Report concerning BDI from Thompson Reuters CLEAR
prepared on July 21, 2015.

6. According to information obtained in the Investigation thus far, the Commission
has learned that Charles McAllister was the president of BDI until July 20, 2015. (See Exhibit
1)

7. During the course of the Investigation into BDI and McAllister, the Division

uncovered evidence that BDI and McAllister may be in violation of Section 6(c) of the Act, 7

2
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U.S.C. 8 9(c)(1), and/or Regulation 180.1, 17 C.F.R. § 180.1, by engaging in unlawful retail
commodity transactions. In an effort to discover information related to these potential violations,
the Division is seeking information concerning the operations of BDI and related entities Nucleo
Development Company, LLC, Nucleo Exchange and any other related entities (collectively,
Nucleo). BDI maintained the website Nucleo Exchange and claims it is proprietary software that
facilitates precious metals exchanges between buyers and sellers. While the buyers and sellers
connect with each other over the Nucleo Exchange, BDI acts as an intermediary that handles the
trading, validation, insurance, order fulfillment and distribution of the metals between the
marketplace buyers and sellers.

8. McAllister, as the former president of BDI, is likely to have documents and
communications in his possession related to BDI and/or Nucleo. These documents are relevant
and will assist greatly the Commission in determining whether any violations of the Act and/or
Regulations have occurred.

0. As part of its ongoing Investigation, on December 17, 2015 and January 21, 2016,
the Commission issued subpoenas duces tecum to McAllister to appear and testify at the
Commission’s offices in Kansas City, Missouri. Attached as Exhibit 2 is a true and correct copy
of the December 17, 2015 and January 21, 2016 subpoenas.

10. The Division served the December 17, 2015 subpoena, consistent with the
requirements of the Act, on McAllister at an address in Austin, Texas 78749, the most recent

address appearing on a Thompson Reuters CLEAR report. (Exhibit 2; see also Exhibit 3, a true

3
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and correct copy of the Individual Report concerning Charles McAllister from Thompson
Reuters CLEAR prepared on July 21, 2015.)*

11. The December 17, 2015 subpoena required McAllister to appear and testify on
January 7, 2016. In lieu of this appearance on January 7, McAllister was given the option to
produce the requested documents to the Division by January 4, 2016.

12. The Division did not receive a response to this December 17, 2015 subpoena, nor
did McAllister appear.

13. On January 12, 2016, the Division contacted Randy Leavitt, whom the Division
understood to represent McAllister.

14.  After a phone call with Mr. Leavitt on January 20, 2016 in which he agreed to
accept service of the subpoena, on January 21, 2016 the Division issued a second subpoena
duces tecum (Subpoena), which required McAllister to appear and testify on February 11, 2016.
In lieu of this appearance on February 11, 2016, McAllister was given the option to produce the
requested documents to the Division by February 4, 2016.

15. The Division served the Subpoena, consistent with the requirements of the Act, on
Randy Leavitt of The Law Office of Randy T. Leavitt, 1301 Rio Grande Street, Austin, TX
78701, via email to randy@randyleavitt.com, counsel for McAllister. (Exhibit 2.)

16. On February 4, 2016 | had a telephone conversation with Mr. Leavitt about the
Subpoena directed to McAllister and served by the Division on January 21, 2016. Without
admitting the existence of any responsive documents, Mr. Leavitt objected to the Subpoena as
overly broad and unduly burdensome and advised that because he interpreted the Subpoena as

“individual” in nature, McAllister would be asserting a Fifth Amendment claim as to the act of

! Exhibits 2 and 3 have been redacted to comply with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 5.2 and Commission policies
and procedures relating to privacy. Further, only relevant portions of the CLEAR reports are included in Exhibits 2
and 3, although full CLEAR reports can be provided at the Court’s request.
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producing the requested documents and sent an email confirming McAllister’s assertion of his
Fifth Amendment claim against self-incrimination. (Attached as Exhibit 4 is a true and correct
copy of the February 4, 2016 email from Leavitt to Auxter.)

17. Based on the February 4, 2016 Fifth Amendment privilege assertion, Mr. Leavitt
advised me that McAllister would not produce responsive documents or appear on February 11,
2016, and McAllister in fact did not produce documents or appear on February 11.

18. Jo Mettenburg (also an attorney in the Division) and | arranged for a call with Mr.
Leavitt on February 19, 2016, in order to discuss McAllister’s February 4 assertion of the Fifth
Amendment privilege. On that call we stated our belief that the response to the January 21
subpoena was insufficient, and discussed a potential resolution.

19. Mr. Leavitt stated that he did not want to duplicate efforts, and that if the Division
sought or would seek documents from BDI, that McAllister’s documents would likely be
duplicative of the BDI documents.

20. Ms. Mettenburg and | pointed out that because McAllister ceded control of BDI
on the eve of bankruptcy, neither we nor the restructuring agent of BDI (appointed on the same
day that BDI declared bankruptcy) could be certain that the documents the Division received
from BDI were complete. Mettenburg offered that Mr. Leavitt and the Division could discuss
generally the documents in McAllister’s possession in order to determine if there was some type
of resolution.

21. Mr. Leavitt stated that his client was creating an inventory of the responsive
documents in his possession, and requested that the Division provide him with an inventory of all
documents provided by BDI, which he would then compare against the documents in

McAllister’s possession. Ms. Mettenburg advised him the Division could not provide him with

5
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an inventory of documents received by BDI, if any, because of the confidential nature of the
Division’s investigations.

22. Mr. Leavitt then requested that McAllister be offered immunity if he produced
documents responsive to the Subpoena, based on the act of production privilege.

23. Ms. Mettenburg advised Mr. Leavitt the Division does not believe that the
privilege applies to corporate documents, and that a blanket assertion of the privilege for non-
corporate documents was not proper.

24. On March 8, 2016, Ms. Mettenburg and | again spoke by telephone with Mr.
Leavitt to determine whether McAllister had created the inventory of documents referred to on
the February 19 call, and whether he would produce non-privileged documents responsive to the
Subpoena.

25. Mr. Leavitt confirmed the creation of the inventory by McAllister, but reiterated
his client’s position that he believed he could assert a Fifth Amendment privilege against self-
incrimination with respect to the production of documents requested by the Commission’s
Subpoena.

26. Mr. Leavitt again requested that the Division provide him with an inventory of the
documents received by the Division from BDI, and Ms. Mettenburg again stated that the
Division could not produce such an inventory due to the confidential nature of its investigations.

27. Mr. Leavitt refused to produce the inventory created by McAllister because the
privilege McAllister was asserting was to the “act of production,” not to specific documents.

28. Ms. Mettenburg and | restated the Division’s position that there is no Fifth
Amendment privilege as to corporate documents and that a blanket, non-specific, invocation of

the privilege as to all documents was improper, even if McAllister possessed non-corporate

6
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documents. We again requested that McAllister produce any non-privileged responsive
documents.

29. Mr. Leavitt advised that he would not review McAllister’s thousands of
documents “unless a federal judge tells [him] he has to,” because McAllister has “bigger fish to
fry,” specifically FBI involvement and criminal implications.

30. Ms. Mettenburg asked Mr. Leavitt (or his co-counsel David Botsford) to let us
know within a week whether or not McAllister would produce responsive documents or would
be asserting a Fifth Amendment privilege, and told Mr. Leavitt that if McAllister continued to
assert a blanket privilege, the Division would be forced to consider a subpoena enforcement
action.

31. Three weeks later, on March 29, 2016 Mr. Leavitt responded to an email from me
dated March 22, 2016, and confirmed that McAllister was asserting a “Fifth Amendment claim
to the act of producing such document[s].” (Emphasis in original.) (Attached as Exhibit5 is a
true and correct copy of email correspondence dated March 22 and March 29, 2016.)

32. On April 8, 2016, | sent a letter to Mr. Leavitt setting forth the CFTC’s position
that McAllister has no Fifth Amendment privilege as to corporate documents of BDI and that a
blanket assertion of the Fifth Amendment is an inappropriate response to the Subpoena.
(Attached as Exhibit 6 is a true and correct copy of the April 8, 2016 letter from Auxter to
Leavitt.) The letter asked Mr. Leavitt to provide an adequate response to the Subpoena issued
more than two months prior. (Id.) Otherwise, | advised the Commission would seek a federal
court order enforcing the subpoena with an award of attorney’s fees to the Commission for

seeking such relief. (1d.)
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33. On April 28, 2016, Mr. Leavitt responded to my April 8 letter, and stated that
McAllister had a “viable 5th Amendment privilege to the ‘act of production.”” (Attached as
Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of Leavitt’s April 28, 2016 letter to the Division.) Mr.
Leavitt’s letter stated that he “stand[s] willing and ready to cooperate with your agency,” but did
not agree to produce any non-privileged documents. (ld.)

34. To date, McAllister has neither appeared nor produced the documents sought in

the Subpoena.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed: May 23, 2016 s/J. Alison Auxter
J. Alison Auxter

8
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Exhibit 1

To the Declaration of J. Alison Auxter
In Support of Application for an Order to
Show Cause and Order Requiring Compliance
with Administrative Subpoena
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Company Report | BULLIONDIRECT, INC. | 07/21/15 09:14 AM | Reference: N/A

Report Section Summary
Business Overview (1)
Quick Analysis Flags (1)
Associate Analytics Chart (1)
Phone Numbers (1)
Businesses with Same Address (3)
Businesses with Same Phone Number (1)
Business Finder Records (1)
D&B Market Identifier Records (1)
Lawsuit Records (1)
Docket Records (2)

Business Contacts/Executives Associated with Business (3)

Business Overview

Company Location (Source: Google Maps)

Yo Duncan!Park

Address: LL 1 700 LAVACA ST
AUSTIN, TX 78701
TRAVIS COUNTY

Ticker Symbol:

Date of Incorporation: 08/30/1999
Year Established:

Status:

Primary SIC Code: 509411
DUNS: 12-544-7990

Current Outstanding Shares:

Case 4:16-mc-09010-NKL Document 2-1 Filed 05/23/16 Page 12 of 78
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Company Report | BULLIONDIRECT, INC. | 07/21/15 09:14 AM | Reference: N/A

Shareholders:
Number of Employees: 5TO9

Fiscal Year End:
Latest Annual Financial Date:

Web Address: www.bulliondirect.com

Business Description:

Quick Analysis Flags

List of Possible Quick Analysis Flags

OFAC listing No
Global Sanctions No
Business Address Used as Residential Address No
Prison Address on Record No
P.O. Box listed as Address No
Bankruptcy No
Other Listings Linked to Business Phone Number YES
Other Businesses Linked to the Business Address No
Other Businesses Linked to Same FEIN No
Key Nature of Suit No
Pending Class Action No
Change in Principal Leadership No
Going Concern No
MSB listing No

REDACTED
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Page 3 of 14



Company Report | BULLIONDIRECT, INC. | 07/21/15 09:14 AM | Reference: N/A

REDACTED
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Company Report | BULLIONDIRECT, INC. | 07/21/15 09:14 AM | Reference: N/A

Mcallister, Charles H AUSTIN, TX 78701 Number NO
REDACTED Shared Phone
. Number
Mcallister, Charles H NO
Named
AUSTIN, TX 78749 Executive

Phone Numbers

1. Business Phone #
BULLIONDIRECT, INC. (512) 462-2646

Businesses with Same Address

700 LAVACA ST, AUSTIN, TX 78701

NO

NO

Company Name

REDACTED
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REDACTED

NUCLEO DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, LLC
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REDACTED

700 LAVACA ST # 1400, AUSTIN, TX 78701
TRAVIS

REDACTED

NUCLEO DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, LLC
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REDACTED
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REDACTED

700 LAVACA ST STE 1400, AUSTIN, TX 78701-3102
TRAVIS

REDACTED
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REDACTED
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REDACTED

Businesses with Same Phone Number

(512) 462-2646

Business
BULLIONDIRECT, INC.

BULLIONDIRECT, INC

Business Finder Records
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Company Report | BULLIONDIRECT, INC. | 07/21/15 09:14 AM | Reference: N/A

Business Name:

Business Address:
County:

Primary SIC:

Franchise/Specialty:

Organization:

Publicly-Held Business:

Employees at Location:

Ad Size:

Contact for Location:

BULLION DIRECT INC

700 LAVACA ST # 1400
AUSTIN, TX 78701
TRAVIS

Phone:

509411 METALS-PRECIOUS Business Specific SIC:

SHEET WIRE TUBING
(WHLS)

FIRM

5TO9
REGULAR LISTING
MCALLISTER, CHARLES

Data by Infogroup, Copyright 2015, All Rights Reserved.
D&B Market Identifier Records

700 LAVACA ST STE 1400 AUSTIN, TX 78701

TRAVIS COUNTY

Business Name:
Date of Incorporation:
Year Started:

Business Address:

County:
Executive Name:
Executive Name:

Line of Business:

Primary SIC:

Primary SIC:

Annual Sales:
1-Yr-Ago:
3-Yr-Ago:

Sales Growth:
Number of Accounts:
Employees Total:
1-Yr-Ago:
3-Yr-Ago:

MSA Code:
Square Footage:
Bank Name:
Accounting Firm:

Business Is A:

BULLIONDIRECT, INC.

1999

700 LAVACA ST STE 1400

AUSTIN, TX 78701

TRAVIS COUNTY

CHARLES H MCALLISTER
REDACTED

COMMODITY CONTRACT

BROKER

6221

6221 0000

$1,600,000-ESTIMATED
$ NOT AVAILABLE

$ NOT AVAILABLE

%

16
16
16
0640
3100

SINGLE LOCATION
SMALL BUSINESS

Additional Business
Information:
Status:

Sales from Location:

Population of Area:

Title:

Related Name(s):

State of Incorporation:
Phone:

Executive Title:
Executive Title:
Industry Group:

SIC Description:

SIC Description:
Annual Sales Revision Date:
Sales Territory:

Net Worth:

Employees Here:
Employment Growth:
MSA Name:
Occupancy Type:

Bank DUNS Number:

Establishment Is:

(512) 462-2646

$10,000 TO 19,999
500,000 PLUS

OWNER

(512) 462-2646

PRESIDENT

MANAGER

FINANCE, INSURANCE,
AND REAL ESTATE
COMMODITY CONTRACTS
BROKERS, DEALERS
COMMODITY CONTRACTS
BROKERS, DEALERS, NSK
06/18/2015

u.s.

16-ACTUAL
%

AUSTIN-SAN MARCOS, TX
OWNED

US OWNED

Case 4:16-mc-09010-NKL Document 2-1 Filed 05/23/16 Page 22 of 78
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Company Report | BULLIONDIRECT, INC. | 07/21/15 09:14 AM | Reference: N/A

DUNS: 12-544-7990
Parent Company Name:

Ultimate Company Name:
Headquarters Company Name:

Last Update to Record: 05/20/2015

Parent Company DUNS
Number:

Ultimate Company DUNS
Number:

Headquarters Company DUNS
Number:

Data by Dun & Bradsreet COPYRIGHT © 2015 DUN & BRADSTREET, INC.

Lawsuit Records

Case Number: D1GN06004108

PLAINTIFF INFORMATION
Plaintiff Name:

DOB:

Business Dun(s):
SSN(s):

REDACTED

DEFENDANT INFORMATION
Defendant Name: BULLION DIRECT INC
Role:

DOB:

Business Dun(s):
SSN(s):

COURT & CASE INFORMATION
Case Title:

Case Status:

Estate Status:

Date Filed:

Filing Type:

Filing Office Address:

10/27/2006

1000 GUADALUPE

AUSTIN, TX 78701

County: TRAVIS

Judge:

Court Name:
DISTRICT COURT

Trial Type:

Trial Date:

Docket Records

Docket Title Docket Number Filing Date
1. BULLION 1:10-CV-00313 02/26/2010

DIRECT, INC. v.

KAPPOS

Case 4:16-mc-09010-NKL Document 2-1

Page 13 of 14

TRAVIS COUNTY CIVIL

Case Title:

Gender:

Headquarters' Dun(s):

Foreign Registration:
Gender:

Headquarters' Dun(s):
Driver's License:

Case Number: D1GN06004108
Status Date: 10/27/2006
Case Description:
Location Filed: TRAVIS
State Filed: TX
Reported Date: 10/27/2006
Court Location:
Court Phone:
Trial Length:
Court Nature of Suit
D.D.C. OTHER
STATUTES:
OTHER

bate 10/27/2006
Filed:

Company Interest
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Company Report | BULLIONDIRECT, INC. | 07/21/15 09:14 AM | Reference: N/A

STATUTORY
ACTIONS
(890),0THER
FEDERAL
STATUTES,OTHER
FEDERAL
STATUTORY
ACTIONS

2. BULLION 1:10-CV-00313  02/26/2010 D.D.C. OTHER Plaintiff
DIRECT, INC. v. STATUTES:
KAPPOS OTHER

STATUTORY
ACTIONS
(890),0THER
FEDERAL
STATUTES,OTHER
FEDERAL
STATUTORY
ACTIONS

Business Contacts/Executives Associated with Business

CHARLES, MCALLISTER OWNER
REDACTED MANAGER
CHARLES, H, MCALLISTER PRESIDENT

Report section(s) with no matches

People with Same Address, People with Same Phone Number, FEIN Records, Fictitious Business Names, Executive
Affiliations, Executive Profile Records, WORLDSCOPE Company Profile, Current Stock Price & Trading Data, Stock
Performance, Annual Financials, Supplementary Data, Growth Rates, Fundamental Ratios, Money Service Business
Records, Foreign Business Statistics, Exchange Rates, D&B PCI, WorldBase Records, Corporate Filings,
WORLDSCOPE Executive Officers, Business Profile Records, Current Officers & Directors, Previous Officers ,
Global Sanctions, Arrest Records, Criminal Records, Professional Licenses, OFAC Infractions, Liens & Judgments,
Federal Case Law, State Case Law, Bankruptcy Records, Real Property & Deed Transfers, Real Property
Pre-Foreclosure Records, UCC Filings, SEC Filings, Other Documents Related to SEC Filings, Other Securities
Filings, DMV Records, FAA Aircraft Registrations, Watercraft, Excluded Parties List System
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Exhibit 2

To the Declaration of J. Alison Auxter
In Support of Application for an Order to
Show Cause and Order Requiring Compliance
with Administrative Subpoena
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U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION
4900 Main Street, Suite 500
Kansas City, Missouri 64112
Telephone: (816) 960-7700
Facsimile: (816) 960-7750

T . o\
Dy www.cftc.gov
Division of J. ALISON AUXTER
Enforcement TRIAL ATTORNEY

(816) 960-7718
AAUXTER@CF’['C.GOV

January 21, 2016

Via Electronic Mail to randy@randyleavitt.com

Charles McAllister

c/o Randy Leavitt

The Law Office of Randy T. Leavitt
1301 Rio Grande Street

Austin, TX 78701

Re:  Certain Persons Engaged In Unlawful Retail Commodity Transactions
Dear Mr. McAllister:

Enclosed is a subpoena issued by the Division of Enforcement (Division) of the
U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) in connection with an ongoing
investigation. The subpoena requires the custodian of records to appear and testify before the
CFTC, at 4900 Main Street, Suite 500, Kansas City, MO 64112 on February 11, 2016, at 9:30
a.m., and continuing from day to day until completed, and to produce certain documents. The
custodian of records is excused from appearing at the appointed time for testimony if the documents
requested by the subpoena are produced by February 4, 2016, in compliance with the requirements
set forth in Schedule A to the subpoena. Please contact me upon receipt of this subpoena.

The Division requests that you not inform any persons of the existence of this subpoena.
[f you have any concerns in this regard, please contact me immediately by phone before
notifying any other persons.

Enclosed for your reference is an eleven-page document entitled CFTC Data Delivery
Standards, which details how to produce electronic data to the CFTC. If you have any
questions, you can reach me at (816) 960-7718.

Sincerely,

J. Alison Auxter
Enclosures (2)
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U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION
4900 Main Street, Suite 500 Kansas City, Missouri 64112
Telephone: (816) 960-7700
Facsimile: (816) 960-7750
www.cftc.gov

Division of
Enforcement

SUBPOENA DUCES TECUM

January 21, 2016
TO: Charles McAllister

YOU ARE HEREBY COMMANDED to appear before Margaret Aisenbrey, Alison Auxter,
Jennifer Chapin, Lauren Fulks, Rachel Hayes, James Humphrey, Rebecca Jelinek,
Jeffrey LeRiche, Charles Marvine, Jo Mettenburg, Christopher Reed, Peter Riggs, Elsie
Robinson, Thomas Simek, Allison Sizemore, Nicholas Sloey and Stephen Turley, officers of the
U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC), at the CFTC’s Kansas City Office, 4900
Main Street, Suite 500, Kansas City, MO 64112, on February 11, 2016 at 9:30 a.m., to give
-testimony under oath and to produce all books, papers, documents, and other tangible things
specified in the attached Schedule A in connection with the investigation conducted by the CFTC
in the matter of’

Certain Persons Engaged In Unlawful Retail Commodity Transactions

Production of the requested records by the close of business on February 4, 2016 in accordance
with the instructions contained in the attached Schedule A, will satisfy the requirements of this

subpoena and obviate the need for a personal appearance by you.
L T T T T T T T T R R R T

FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS SUBPOENA MAY RESULT IN THE
COMMENCEMENT OF A LEGAL ACTION IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT TO COMPEL COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS HEREOF.

Bt s R R R R R e R R R R

Mﬂf?’

J. Alison Auxt%/

Issued January 21, 2016 in Kansas City, MO by:
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NOTICES TO WITNESS:

Fees and Mileage: Fees and mileage need not be tendered to the witness upon service of a subpoena issued in
behalf of an officer or employee of the CFTC. 28 U.S.C. § 1825(c); 31 US.C. § 3324(b); 17 C.F.R. § 11.4.
However, affer giving testimony pursuant to this subpoena, the witness may request of the Commission, and the
Commission will pay, the same fees and mileage that are paid to witnesses in the courts of the United States. 17
CIF.R §11.4; see also 28 US.C. § 1821.

False, Misleading or Fraudulent Statements: Making a false, misleading or fraudulent statement in testimony or
documents produced in response to this subpoena may be a civil andior criminal violation that can result in
punishment by fine or imprisonment or both. Specifically, a false, misleading or fraudulent statement of material
Sact or omission of material fact that is necessary to make a statement not misleading, may constitute a violation of
Section 6(c)(2) of the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. §§ 9(2)), Section 9(a)(3) of the Commodity Exchange Act
(7 US.C. §13(a)(3)), and/or Section 1001 of Title 18, Crimes and Criminal Procedure (18 US.C. §1001)
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RETURN OF SERVICE

In the Case of a Natural Person:

[]
e

[]
[]
[]
L]

[X]

handing it to the person named herein.

leaving it at the person's office with the following person in charge:

leaving it at the person's office in the following conspicuous place:

leaving it at the person's usual place of abode, street address:

mailing by certified or registered mail to the following address:

mailing by UPS to the following address:

the following method by which actual notice was given:

Electronic mail to randy@randyleavitt.com

In the case of service upon other than a natural person:

[]

[]

[]

[]

handing it to the following registered agent for service or other officer, director or agent in charge
of such office (name & title):

certified or registered mail to the entity’s following agent or lepr'esentafivc:

mailing by UPS to the following address:

the following method by which actual notice was given:

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the foregoing is
frue and correct and that I served this subpoena in accordance with the method noted above.

Dated: January 21, 2016 (&M &’6/ Ud;’ N

J. Alison Auxter\_/
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SCHEDULE A

DEFINITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS

The following definitions and instructions are expressly incorporated into each specific demand for
production as if fully stated therein:

A.

The terms “McAllister,” “you” and “your” shall refer to Charles McAllister as well as his
agents, employees, assigns or representatives.

The term “BDI” shall refer to Bullion Direct Inc,

The term “Nucleo” shall refer to Nucleo Development Company, LLC, Nucleo Exchange,
and any related entities.

The term “CFTC” refers to the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission.

“Including” and “includes” are used in the broadest sense of the terms and specification of
a particular matter included in a request and is not meant to exclude any other documents
that might be responsive to a specific request.

The terms “communication” and “communications” refer to all manners of transmitting or
receiving information, opinions, or thoughts, orally, in writing, in person, telephonically,
electronically, or by any other means.

“Relating to” means analyze, appraise, assess, characterize, comment on, concern, consider,
constitute, contain, deliberate, delineate, describe, discuss, evaluate, evidence, explicate,
pertain to, recommend, record, refer to, reflect, report on, set forth, show, or study.

“Person” means any natural person, and includes individuals, partnerships, corporations,
trusts, any business, legal, or governmental entities, associations, or political subdivisions.

The term “document(s),” for purposes of this request, is any writing, drawing, graph, chart,
photograph, phonographic record, audio tape, videotape, computer disk, or any other data
compilation from which information can be obtained or translated, if necessary, through
detection devices into reasonably usable form. “Document(s)” means all writings or
printed matter of any kind, including, without limitation: records, correspondence,
memoranda, notes, rolodexes, address books, diaries, statistics, e-mail, letters, telegrams,
minutes, contracts, reports, studies, checks, statements, receipts, returns, summaties,
pamphlets, books, prospectuses, interoffice or intraoffice communications, telephone
message slips, offers, notations of conversations, bulletins, drawings, plans, computer
printouts, computer input or output, teletypes, facsimiles, invoices, worksheets, ledger
books, books of accounts, and all drafts, alterations, modifications, changes and
amendments of any of the foregoing. The term “document(s)” also includes all graphic or
aural records or representations of any kind, including without limitation, photographs,
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chaits, graphs, microfilm, videotape, recordings, motion pictures, tapes, cassettes, digital
images and discs.

The term “document(s)” also refers to each and every document in your actual or
constructive possession, including but not limited to: (i) all documents within your custody
or control or the custody or control of any of your present or former agents, employers,
employees, partners, and (i) all documents which you have a legal or equitable right to
obtain from another person. A draft or non-identical copy is a separate document within the
meaning of this term. “Document(s)” also includes the file and folder tabs associated with
each original and copy. You should produce the specified materials to the CFTC as they are
kept in the usual course of business or shall organize and label them to correspond with the
categories in this request.

L The term “possession” denotes actual or constructive possession. For example, a document
is in your possession if it is within your custody or control, if you have a legal or equitable
right to obtain such document from another person, or if it is in the custody or control of any
of your attorneys, agents, representatives or assigns.

K. If any of documents responsive to any of the paragraphs of this Schedule A will not be
produced on the basis of a claim of privilege, or for any other reason, please set forth the
following information concerning each documents:

i) the type and title of the document;
ii) the date of the document;
iii) the person who prepared or wrote the document;

iv)  adescription of the document's subject matter and physical size;

V) the address of each recipient of the original or a copy of the document, together
with the date or approximate date which each recipient received the document;

vi) all other persons to whom the contents of the document have been disclosed, the
date of such disclosure, and the means of such disclosure; and

vii)  the nature of the privilege or the rule of law relied upon, including who is
asserting the privilege or rule, and the basis for the privilege or rule, or other

reason for non-production.

L. If you decline to produce a document because you believe that the document has been
destroyed, provide the following information for this document:

i) the type and title of the document;

ii) the date of the document;
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1it) the person who prepared or wrote the document;
iv) a description of the document's subject matter and physical size;

V) the address of each recipient of the original or a copy of the document, together
with the date or approximate date that each recipient received the document;

vi) all other persons to whom the contents of the document have been disclosed, the
date such disclosure took place, and the means of such disclosure;

vii)  the date the document was destroyed; and
viii)  the person who ordered or authorized such destruction.

References to the singular shall include the plural and references to the plural shall include
the singular.

Any reference to a person or entity shall include any natural person or any business, legal, or
governmental entity or association, and any such person's or entity's directors, officers,
employees, agents, representatives, receivers, transferees, beneficiaries, assigns, partners,
affiliates, successors in interest, employees, attorneys, consultants, accountants and
representatives.

All documents called for by this subpoena are to be produced in unredacted form. If you
make any redactions, such redactions must be clearly marked and the reasons for such
redactions must be given in accordance with paragraph “M” above.

If any documents are called for by more than one specification, it is not necessary to submit
more than one copy of the document.

Please produce all documents in electronic format in accordance with the CFTC Division of
Enforcement’s Data Delivery Standards, enclosed herein. All documents should be

complete, legible, and arranged in chronological order.

This subpoena should be deemed to be continuing. If additional documents are located,
supplementation should be made promptly.

Please produce documents responsive to requests specified in Schedule A for the time
period July 1, 2010 through the date of this Request (the “Relevant Period™).
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4.

REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION

Copies of all documents and communications in your possession related to BDI.

Copies of all documents and communications in your possession related to Nucleo.
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U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION
4900 Main Street, Suite 500
Kansas City, Missouri 64112
Telephone: (816) 960-7700
Facsimile: (816) 960-7750
www.cftc.gov

Division of J. ALISON AUXTER
TRIAL ATTORNEY

Enforcement (816)960.7718
AAUXTER@CFTC.GOV
December 17, 2015
Via UPS
Charles McAllister
Austin, TX 78749

Re:  Certain Persons Engaged In Unlawful Retail Commodity Transactions
Dear Mr. McAllister:

Enclosed is a subpoena issued by the Division of Enforcement (Division) of the
U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) in connection with an ongoing
investigation. The subpoena requires the custodian of records to appear and testify before the
CFTC, at 4900 Main Street, Suite 500, Kansas City, MO 64112 on January 7, 2016, at 9:30 a.m.,
and continuing from day to day until completed, and to produce certain documents. The
custodian of records is excused from appearing at the appointed time for testimony if the documents
requested by the subpoena are produced by January 4, 2016, in compliance with the requirements
set forth in Schedule A to the subpoena. Please contact me upon receipt of this subpoena.

The Division requests that you not inform any persons of the existence of this subpoena.
If you have any concerns in this regard, please contact me immediately by phone before
notifying any other persons.

Enclosed for your reference is an eleven-page document entitled CFTC Data Delivery
Standards, which details how to produce electronic data to the CFTC. Also enclosed is a

Statement to Persons Providing Information About Themselves to the Commodity Futures
Trading Commission. If you have any questions, you can reach me at (816) 960-7718.

Sincerely,
J. Alison Auxter
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U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION
4900 Main Street, Suite 500 Kansas City, Missouri 64112
Telephone: (816) 960-7700
Facsimile: (816) 960-7750
www.cftc.gov

Division of
Enforcement

SUBPOENA DUCES TECUM

December 17, 2015

T Charles McAllister

YOU ARE HEREBY COMMANDED to appear before Margaret Aisenbrey, Alison Auxter,
Jennifer Chapin, Lauren Fulks, Rachel Hayes, James Humphrey, Rebecca Jelinek,
Jeffrey LeRiche, Charles Marvine, Jo Mettenburg, Christopher Reed, Peter Riggs, Elsie
Robinson, Thomas Simek, Allison Sizemore, Nicholas Sloey and Stephen Turley, officers of the
U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC), at the CFTC’s Kansas City Office, 4900
Main Street, Suite 500, Kansas City, MO 64112, on January 7, 2016 at 9:30 a.m., to give
testimony under oath and to produce all books, papers, documents, and other tangible things
specified in the attached Schedule A in connection with the investigation conducted by the CFTC
in the matter of:

Certain Persons Engaged In Unlawful Retail Commodity Transactions

Production of the requested records by the close of business on January 4, 2016 in accordance
with the instructions contained in the attached Schedule A, will satisfy the requirements of this
subpoena and obviate the need for a personal appearance by you.

e e e e e e e e e e e o e o o s o o o o o o o o e o o e et o s ke e e e
FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS SUBPOENA MAY RESULT IN THE

COMMENCEMENT OF A LEGAL ACTION IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT TO COMPEL COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS HEREOF.

Feddh ke dRh Rt R iRk d R itk d kil ikl kb b d e h ke ddhdhddhhddhdhddd R iRk dhdnhd R

Issued December 17, 2015 in Kansas City, MO by:
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NOTICES TO WITNESS:

Fees and Mileage: Fees and mileage need not be tendered to the witness upon service of a subpoena issued in
behalf of an officer or employee of the CFTC. 28 US.C. § 1825(c); 31 US.C. § 3324(b); 17 C.F.R. § 11.4.
However, after giving testimony pursuant to this subpoena, the witness may request of the Conumission, and the

Commission will pay, the same fees and mileage that are paid to witnesses in the courts of the United States. 17
C.F.R. §11.4; see also 28 U.S.C. § 1821.

False, Misleading or Fraudulent Statements: Making a false, misleading or fiaudulent statement in testimony or
documents produced in response to this subpoena may be a civil and/or criminal violation that can result in
punishment by fine or imprisonment or both. Specifically, a false, misleading or fraudulent statement of material
Jact or omission of material fact that is necessary to make a statement not misleading, may constitute a violation of
Section 6(c)(2) of the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. §§ 9(2)), Section 9(a)(3) of the Commodity Exchange Act
(7 US.C. §13(a)(3)), and/or Section 1001 of Title 18, Crimes and Criminal Procedure (18 U.S.C. §1001)
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RETURN OF SERVICE

In the Case of a Natural Person:

[] handing it to the person named herein.

[] leaving it at the person's office with the following person in charge:
[] leaving it at the person's office in the following conspicuous place:
[] leaving it at the person's usual place of abode, street address:

[] mailing by certified or registered mail to the following address:

[X] mailing by UPS to the following address:
REDACTED

Austin, TX 78749

[] the following method by which actual notice was given:

In the case of service upon other than a natural person:

[] handing it to the following registered agent for service or other officer, director or agent in charge
of such office (name & title): '

[1] certified or registered mail to the entity’s following agent or representative:

[1] mailing by UPS to the following address:

[] the following method by which actual notice was given:

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the foregoing is
true and correct and that 1 served this subpoena in accordance with the method noted above.

Dated: December 17,2015
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SCHEDULE A

DEFINITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS

The following definitions and instructions are expressly incorporated into each specific demand for
production as if fully stated therein:

A.

e

The terms “McAllister,” “you” and “your” shall refer to Charles McAllister as well as his
agents, employees, assigns or representatives.

The term “BDI” shall refer to Bullion Direct Inc.

The term “Nucleo” shall refer to Nucleo Development Company, LLC, Nucleo Exchange,
and any related entities.

The term “CFTC? refers to the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission.

“Including” and “includes™ are used in the broadest sense of the terms and specification of
a particular matter included in a request and is not meant to exclude any other documents
that might be responsive to a specific request.

The terms “communication” and “communications” refer to all manners of transmitting or
receiving information, opinions, or thoughts, orally, in writing, in person, telephonically,
electronically, or by any other means.

“Relating to” means analyze, appraise, assess, characterize, comment on, concern, consider,
constitute, contain, deliberate, delineate, describe, discuss, evaluate, evidence, explicate,
pertain to, recommend, record, refer to, reflect, report on, set forth, show, or study.

“Person” means any natural person, and includes individuals, partnerships, corporations,
trusts, any business, legal, or governmental entities, associations, or political subdivisions.

The term “document(s),” for purposes of this request, is any writing, drawing, graph, chart,
photograph, phonographic record, audio tape, videotape, computer disk, or any other data
compilation from which information can be obtained or translated, if necessary, through
detection devices into reasonably usable form. “Document(s)” means all writings or
printed matter of any kind, including, without limitation: records, correspondence,
memoranda, notes, rolodexes, address books, diaries, statistics, e-mail, letters, telegrams,
minutes, contracts, reports, studies, checks, statements, receipts, returns, summaries,
pamphlets, books, prospectuses, interoffice or intraoffice communications, telephone
message slips, offers, notations of conversations, bulletins, drawings, plans, computer
printouts, computer input or output, teletypes, facsimiles, invoices, worksheets, ledger
books, books of accounts, and all drafts, alterations, modifications, changes and
amendments of any of the foregoing. The term “document(s)” also includes all graphic or
aural records or representations of any kind, including without limitation, photographs,
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charts, graphs, microfilm, videotape, recordings, motion pictures, tapes, cassettes, digital
images and discs.

The term “document(s)” also refers to ecach and every document in your actual or
constructive possession, including but not limited to: (i) all documents within your custody
or control or the custody or control of any of your present or former agents, employers,
employees, partners, and (ii) all documents which you have a legal or equitable right to
obtain from another person. A draft or non-identical copy is a separate document within the
meaning of this term. “Document(s)” also includes the file and folder tabs associated with
each original and copy. You should produce the specified materials to the CFTC as they are
kept in the usual course of business or shall organize and label them to correspond with the
categories in this request.

J; The term “possession” denotes actual or constructive possession. For example, a document
is in your possession if it is within your custody or control, if you have a legal or equitable
right to obtain such document from another person, or if it is in the custody or control of any
of your attorneys, agents, representatives or assigns.

K. If any of documents responsive to any of the paragraphs of this Schedule A will not be
produced on the basis of a claim of privilege, or for any other reason, please set forth the
following information concerning each documents:

1) the type and title of the document;
i) the date of the document;
1ii) the person who prepared or wrote the document;

iv) a description of the document's subject matter and physical size;

V) the address of each recipient of the original or a copy of the document, together
with the date or approximate date which each recipient received the document;

vi) all other persons to whom the contents of the document have been disclosed, the
date of such disclosure, and the means of such disclosure; and

vii)  the nature of the privilege or the rule of law relied upon, including who is
asserting the privilege or rule, and the basis for the privilege or rule, or other

reason for non-production.

Ex If you decline to produce a document because you believe that the document has been
destroyed, provide the following information for this document:

i) the type and title of the document;

i) the date of the document;
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iii) the person who prepared or wrote the document;
iv) a description of the document's subject matter and physical size;

V) the address of each recipient of the original or a copy of the document, together
with the date or approximate date that each recipient received the document;

vi) all other persons to whom the contents of the document have been disclosed, the
date such disclosure took place, and the means of such disclosure;

vii)  the date the document was destroyed; and
viii)  the person who ordered or authorized such destruction.

References to the singular shall include the plural and references to the plural shall include
the singular.

Any reference to a person or entity shall include any natural person or any business, legal, or
governmental entity or association, and any such person's or entity's directors, officers,
employees, agents, representatives, receivers, transferees, beneficiaries, assigns, partners,
affiliates, successors in interest, employees, attorneys, consultants, accountants and
representatives.

All documents called for by this subpoena are to be produced in unredacted form. If you
make any redactions, such redactions must be clearly marked and the reasons for such
redactions must be given in accordance with paragraph “K” above.

If any documents are called for by more than one specification, it is not necessary to submit
more than one copy of the document.

Please produce all documents in electronic format in accordance with the CFTC Division of
Enforcement’s Data Delivery Standards, enclosed herein. All documents should be
complete, legible, and arranged in chronological order.

This subpoena should be deemed to be continuing. If additional documents are located,
supplementation should be made promptly.

Please produce documents responsive to requests specified in Schedule A for the time
period July 1, 2010 through the date of this Request (the “Relevant Period™).
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2,

REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION

Copies of all documents and communications in your possession related to BDI.

Copies of all documents and communications in your possession related to Nucleo.
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U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20581

Statement to Persons Providing Information about Themselves to
the Commodity Futures Trading Commission

This document sets forth your legal rights and responsibilities as a person requested to supply
information about yourself voluntarily, as a person with recordkeeping obligations under the
Commadity Exchange Act or CFTC regulations, or as a person directed to provide sworn
testimony or produce documents pursuant to a subpoena of the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission (“Commission” or “CFTC"). When applicahle, this statement also provides
important information about the deposition process for persons providing testimony. Unless
stated otherwise, the information below applies whether you are providing information
voluntarily, pursuant to the recordkeeping obligations of a registrant, or pursuant to subpoena.

FALSE STATEMENTS AND DOCUMENTS

Any person who knowingly and willfully makes false or fraudulent statements, whether under oath
or otherwise, or falsifies, conceals or covers up a material fact, or submits any false writing or
document, knowing it to contain false, fictitious or fraudulent information, is subject to the criminal
penalties set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 1001, which include imprisonment of not more than five years,
imposition of a substantial fine under the Federal Sentencing Guidelines, or both.

It shall also be unlawful for any person to make any false or misleading statement of a material fact
to the Commission, including in any registration application or any report filed with the Commission
under this Act, or any other information relating to a swap, or a contract of sale of a commodity, in
interstate commerce, or for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, or to
omit to state in any such statement any material fact that is necessary to make any statement of a
material fact made not misleading in any material respect, if the person knew, or reasonably should
have known, the statement to be false or misleading, as set forth in Section 6(c)(2) of the Commodity
Exchange Act, 7 U.S.C. § 9(2).

PRIVACY ACT

To restrict unauthorized dissemination of personal information, the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C.
§ 552a, limits an agency’s ability to disclose such information." Under the Privacy Act, the
Commission may disclose protected information as follows: when the individual to whom the
record pertains consents in writing; when officers and employees of the Commission need the
record to perform their duties; when required by the terms of the Freedom of Information Act, 5
U.S.C. § 552; or when disclosure is for a “routine use” (i.e., one compatible with the purpose for
which the information was collected).

' Individuals should refer to the full text of the Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552a, to the Commission’s Regulations, 17 C.F.R. §
146, and the CFTC’s compilation of System of Record Notices, 76 Fed. Reg. 5974 (Feb. 2, 2011), for a complete list of
authorized disclosures and coverage of the Act. Only those disclosures arising most frequently are mentioned in this
document.

1
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The Privacy Act also requires that, in certain situations, individuals requested to provide
information about themselves receive notice of the following:

1 AUTHORITY FOR SOLICITATION OF INFORMATION.

a. Recordkeeping for Registered Persons (other than Registered Swap Dealers and
Major Swaps Participants). Sections 4f, 4g and 4n of the Commodity Exchange Act, 7
U.S.C. §§ 6f, 6g, 6n, and Commission Regulations 1.12, 1.14, 1.18, 1.25, 1.31, 1.33,
1.34, 1.35, 1.37, 1.55, 3.12, 4.23, 4.33, 32.7 and 33.7, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.12, 1.14, 1.18,
1.25, 1.31, 1.33, 1.34,1.35, 1.37, 1.55, 3.12, 4.23, 4.33, 32.7, 33.7, require Registered
Persons other than Registered Swap Dealers and Major Swaps Participants to keep
records and reports of transactions and positions in commodities for future delivery on
any board of trade in the United States or elsewhere. Registered Persons must also
keep books and records pertaining to such transactions (including daily trading records,
customer records, and information concerning volume of trading) in the form and
manner and for such period of time required by the Commission. All such books and
records must be made available for inspection by any representative of the
Commission or the Department of Justice.

b. Recordkeeping for Members of a Registered Entity. Commission Regulations 1.31, 1.35
and 1.37, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.31, 1.35, 1.37, require Members of a Registered Entity to keep
records and reports of transactions and positions in commodities for future delivery and
options on any board of trade in the United States or elsewhere, as well as cash
commodities. Members of a Registered Entity must also keep books and records
pertaining to such transactions (including daily trading records, customer records, and
information concerning volume of trading) in the form and manner and for such period of
time required by